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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	EXELA V. LOPEZ, 

                                    Employee, 

                                         Claimant,

                                                   v. 

Q-1 CORPORATION,

                                    Employer,

                                                    and 

LIBERTY NORTHWEST INSURANCE CO.,

                                     Insurer,

                                          Defendants.                                           
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	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200313190
        AWCB Decision No. 05-0259  

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on  October  6,  2005


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee's claim for temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits, permanent partial impairment (“PPI”), medical benefits, reemployment benefits, attorney’s fees and costs, and penalties and interest, in Anchorage, Alaska on August 3, 2005.  Attorney Tim MacMillan represented the employee.  Attorney Nora Barlow represented the employer and insurer (“employer”). The Board held the record open to receive additional medical documents and a deposition.  After receiving a certified copy of the deposition, the Board closed the record on when it met on September 13, 2005. 
ISSUES

1. Is the employee entitled to TTD from December 6, 2003 thru March 7, 2005 under AS 23.30.185?

2. Is the employee entitled to PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190?

3. Is the employee entitled to additional treatment for her medical complaints under AS 23.30.095?

4. Is the employee entitled to reemployment benefits under AS 23.30.041?

5. Is the employee entitled to attorney fees and legal costs, under AS 23.30.145(b)?

6. Is the employee entitled to penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) and interest under 8 AAC 45.142?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

The employee injured her back while working for the employer as a custodian on October 5, 2003.
  She was lifting a mop bucket when she heard a “popping” or “cracking” sound and felt severe pain.
  The employer accepted compensability of the employee’s injury and paid TTD benefits through December 6, 2003 when it controverted all benefits based on the employer’s medical evaluation
 (“EME”) conducted by Paul Williams, M.D., and Dejan Dordevich, M.D.
  

Several months prior to her October work injury, from February through April 2003, the employee was treated for pneumonia.
  During this time period several unremarkable diagnostic images of the employee’s chest were taken.  On March 25, 2003, the employee complained of back pain secondary to cough.
  On April 4, 2003, chart notes reflect the employee complained of “mid-upper back pain. Less strength in leg.”
  Medical records next mention back pain on October 5, 2003.

After leaving work on October 5, 2003 the employee drove herself to the emergency room where she reported the pain as a non-radiating “burning” sensation in her lower back.
    At the employee’s insistence, an x-rays of her low back were taken.  It revealed “relatively well preserved” disk spaces and minor osteophyte formation.
  There was no sign of fracture or dislocation.
  The x-ray of the employee’s pelvis revealed no abnormality.

Javier Perez, M.D., was the employee’s attending physician in the emergency room.  Dr. Perez saw no evidence of a neurologic deficit.  He observed that the employee was “was very concerned and near tearful about her back pain and the alleged popping sound when she stood up.”
  The employee was discharged with pain medication and a two-day off work note.
  Dr. Perez instructed her to follow up with her primary physician. 

On October 8, 2003, Ray Robinson, M.D., saw the employee.   Dr. Robinson’s Chart Note indicates that the employee again reported that she lifted a heavy bucket of mopping water at work, turned to the left side, and felt a popping in her back.
  The employee reported that since lifting the bucket of water, her pain has been a 5 out of 10 in the left lumbar area.
  Dr. Robinson reported that the employee described the pain started as a pulsating sensation and then transformed into a burning sensation.
  The employee denied radiation pain, numbness or weakness.
  She reported that Advil was sufficient when resting but was insufficient when working.
  Dr. Robinson reported that the employee sought additional time away from work and was seeking other options to improve her back pain.

Dr. Robinson’s objective findings included equal strength in the lower extremities, intact pinprick sensation, normal reflexes and normal heel/toe walking.
  Dr. Robinson diagnosed the employee with acute lumbosacral strain and removed the employee from work for seven days after which she could return to light duty work.
  He also referred her for 3 physical therapy sessions and directed the employee to follow up with him in 2 weeks.

The next day, the employee commenced physical therapy.  Her initial evaluation was limited due to the “severity of the patient’s symptoms” or positional pain patterns.

The employee next saw Cynthia A. Hawkins, M.S.N., A.N.P., on October 16, 2003.
    Ms. Hawkins prescribed continuing physical therapy and would not release the employee to return to work for at least another week at which time light duty may be appropriate.
  On October 21, 2003, the physical therapist reported that the employee’s response to treatment had been poor in part due to the employee’s inability to tolerate modalities. It was reported that the employee’s symptoms appeared to be increasing.
 

Ms. Hawkins ordered lumbar spine x-rays on October 23, 2003. The x-rays were unremarkable revealing mild degenerative disk disease.  The employee complained that she was getting worse not better.   An MRI
 was ordered.    Ms. Hawkins would not release the employee to return to work until after she had reviewed the MRI.  The employee’s next appointment was scheduled for November 4, 2003.  The MRI revealed, “disk desiccation and minimal bulging of the annulus of the disk at the L1-2 and the L5-S1 level, but no disk herniation or spinal stenosis is noted.” Ms. Hawkins did not attribute the employee’s back pain to the disc desiccation and minimal bulging because of their location.
  Ms. Hawkins continued her diagnosis of lumbosacral sprain, prescribed physical therapy and returned the employee to light-duty with no lifting over 10 pounds and no bending or twisting.

The employee’s condition failed to improve and she was unable to participate in physical therapy due to complaints of pain.
  Ms. Hawkins referred the employee to orthopedic surgeon John T. Duddy, M.D. Dr. Duddy diagnosed low back pain without radicular symptoms and prescribed aggressive physical therapy for three months.
  He did not consider the employee a surgical candidate but did opine that if there was no improvement a fusion should be considered as a last resort.
  Dr. Duddy released the employee to return to work in a light duty capacity on December 4, 2003.   The employee was not to lift in excess of 20 pounds at any time and no more than 10 pounds frequently.  However, the employer had no light duty positions available. 

On December 6, 2003, at the employer’s request Drs. Dordevich and Williams evaluated the employee.  It was their impression that the employee had suffered a work related lumbar strain.  However, their evaluation did not reveal objective findings to support the employee’s ongoing complaints.  Because no objective findings were found, Drs. Dordevich and Williams characterized the employee’s low back pain as “subjective.”
  They agreed that the mechanics of lifting a heavy bucket of water as asserted by the employee was capable of producing lumbosacral pain and would be consistent with Dr. Perez’s findings. They agreed that the October 5, 2003 injury combined with the employee’s pre-existing degenerative changes to aggravate her back, however any aggravation was temporary and resolved. It was their opinion that the employee needed no further treatment and was able to return to work without restriction. They found the employee medically stable but did not indicate an exact date of medical stability.
 

The employee returned to work on December 10, 2003.  However, after a few hours she presented at the emergency room complaining that she was unable to work and described low back pain “probably radiating down her left leg”
 The emergency room provider would not release the employee to return to work for one week and advised her to continue her physical therapy, take Ibuprophen, and return to her own doctor.  The emergency room note provides a diagnosis of “flair of low back pain.”

On December 10, 2003, the employer controverted all benefits relying upon the report of Drs. Dordevich and Williams.

For reasons not apparent in the record, the employee did not return to either Dr. Duddy or Ms. Hawkins.  Rather, on December 15, 2003, W. Scott Kiester, D.O., saw the employee.  He noted tenderness and restriction of motion and diagnosed lumbar strain.  Dr. Kiester prescribed deep muscle manipulation and opined that the employee could return to her regular work on 12/22/05.
  The employee returned for deep muscle manipulation as directed.  However, she complained of pain when touched and the treatment could not be performed.   On December 19, 2003, Dr. Kiester again examined the employee.  The employee continued to complain of severe pain when touched in her left sacroiliac area.  He discharged the employee to go to work without restrictions or to be evaluated by J. Michael James M.D.  Finally, Dr. Kiester opined that the MRI is absolutely normal.
 

The employee was next treated for low back pain on December 31, 2003, at the Anchorage Neighborhood Health Center.
  

On January 23, 2004, the employee filed her workers’ compensation claim (“WCC”) seeking TTD benefits, medical benefits, penalty, attorney’s fees, and reemployment benefits.    The employee filed her Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (“ARH”) on February 17, 2004.  The employer opposed and at the March 25, 2004 prehearing conference the parties stipulated not to schedule a hearing on the merits within 60 days.
   

On July 21, 2004, Dr. Kiester returned the employee to work without restrictions.  The employee requested a referral to a chiropractor.
  Dr. Kiester told the employee to either return to work or see Dr. James for further evaluation.
  

The employee, without referral, saw Mark Kufel, D.C., on July 22, 2004.  An x-ray was taken which was remarkable for calcium in sternal cartilage.
   Dr. Kufel continued to treat the employee into the fall of 2004.

On August 12, 2004, Dr. James examined the employee on referral from Dr. Kiester.  Dr. James reported the employee was complaining of neck and low back pain.  He did not have the MRI films available to review.  He did have the radiologist’s report of the October 30, 2003 MRI.  Dr. James diagnosed the employee with neck pain, probably facet syndrome, low back pain with mild radicular signs, degenerative disc disease of the lumbar spine, and no evidence of cervical radiculopathy.
  He asked the employee to obtain her MRI films for review, obtain records from other physicians to ensure a complete medical history, and ordered Electrodiagnostic testing.
 

Electrodiagnostic testing results were normal.
  Dr. James could find no evidence of radiculopathy in either lower extremity and concluded the employee suffered from chronic lumbosacral and cervical strain.  The employee was returned to physical therapy.  She quit going on October 15, 2004.
  When the employee did participate it was noticed that she demonstrated significant inconsistent pain behaviors.  For example, if the employee were unaware that there had been an increase in weights, there would be no pain.  However, if she were aware the weight was increased, she would be unwilling to try the exercise.
 

Dr. James next saw the employee on November 12, 2004.  The employee, through her Spanish interpreter, complained that her back pain was unimproved.  Dr. James continued his diagnosis of low back pain musculoskeletal in origin and added significant sociologic/language issues.  The employee was to continue with/return to physical therapy, which she did.
 On January 3, 2005, the physical therapist reported that the employee had participated in physical therapy and that significant pain behavior made active participation difficult.

On January 13, 2005, Dr. James noted the employee reported no improvement with the physical therapy.
  He also opined that based upon the history provided by the employee, that work was a substantial factor in her present complaints that the employee was suffering from degenerative disc disease and probable facet syndrome.
  

The employee agreed to proceed with a lumbosacral facet block at L3, L4, L5, and S1.
  The facet block was to serve as a diagnostic tool and as a therapeutic event.
  The procedure took place on January 24, 2005.  After the first block, the employee reported a 30% improvement in her symptoms, however she still reported significant pain over her left SI joint.
  It was decided to have a second block for diagnostic purposes at the left SI joint.  The second block was performed on February 14, 2005. By March 7, 2005, the employee’s low back symptoms had returned.  Dr. James opined that this indicated lumbar facet syndrome and discussed radiofrequency ablation as a possible treatment.
  

Dr. James testified via deposition. He stated that he specializes in nonsurgical treatment of the spine and has over 33 years of experience.
  Dr. James opined that if the employee provided an accurate history, he believed that work was a substantial factor in her present disability and need for treatment.
  Dr. James explained the basis for his diagnosis and recommended course treatment. He stated that his evaluation is based in large part on what the employee told him through interpreters. He felt her third interpreter best served the employee.
   He explained that the employee had had three different interpreters with varying degrees of ability.  He stated that the employee had some disc degeneration and that a large number of people walk around with disc degeneration and never exhibit symptoms.  He explained that because the employee stated she did not have any pain prior to her work injury and because the mechanism of injury is consistent with the type of pain experienced, it is likely that her work injury aggravated the pre-existing disk degeneration.
   Dr. James testified that the employee’s neck complaints were not work related.
  He also explained that utilizing facet blocks allows for a clinical diagnosis of facet syndrome.
  If a facet block provides pain relief, it is most likely facet syndrome.
   

When questioned regarding medical stability, Dr. James testified that he hoped the employee would have measurable improvement from future treatment, however, “during the past five months or six months that we’ve treated her, I haven’t seen a great deal – modest changes but nothing of substance.”
  He further testified that because the employee did not get any relief from the two later facet blocks, that March 7, 2005 was a reasonable date of medical stability.

He opined that the employee had a 5 - 8% PPI rating using the DRE method.  He testified that he thought a discogram would be helpful in diagnosing or eliminating causes of the employee’s complaints.  Dr. James also opined that the employee could not return to her job at the time of injury.
  Finally, discussed why he thought the employee be best served by a Spanish speaking back program. Specifically, Dr. James recommended a culturally unbiased program that would allow a provider to get to the core of the employee’s functional limitations and improve them where possible.
  

On May 3, 2005, the employer had the employee evaluated by orthopedic surgeon Steven J. Schilperoort, M.D.
 Dr. Schilperoort examined the employee and the medical records available as of that date.  Based on his examination and record review, he concluded the employee suffered from:

Chondrocalcinosis (pseudo-gout) genetic abnormality, preexisting, and not causally related to the 10/5/03 episode.  Contribution to current valid symptoms unknown at this time.

Pre-existing L1-2 and L5-S1 degenerative disc disease, not causally related to the 10/05/03 episode.

Stated onset of low back pain, associated with the 10/05/03 episode, likely secondary to symptomatic aggravation of either #1 or #2.  .

Markedly exaggerated pain behaviors, disproportionate stated levels of pain to valid objective findings.

Suspected somatoform pain disorder with malingering overtones.

Morbid obesity with moderate level musculoskeletal deconditioning.

He ruled out work as a cause for the employee’s symptoms after reviewing the imaging studies provided. “What is most remarkable here is the amount of cartilaginous calcification to be present in the classic stipple-type pattern for deposition of Calcium pyrophosphate.  At only 42-years of age, this is a very significant level of disease.”  

Dr. Schilperoort addressed the reasonableness and necessity of treatment received by the employee.  He opined that after the first course of physical therapy failed, it should not have been re-prescribed.  He opined that the medial blocks and sacroiliac joint injections performed by Dr. James were neither reasonable nor necessary.   Dr. Schilperoort also opined that radiofrequency ablation, discogram, or a Spanish speaking back rehabilitation program were neither reasonable nor necessary medical treatment for the employee. He opined that no further treatment was indicated, there was no PPI, the employee was medically stable as of December 6, 2003 and she could return to work without restriction.

On June 9, 2005, orthopedic surgeon Paul M. Puziss, M.D., evaluated the employee for the Board. He testified via deposition. His evaluation consisted of a medical records review, interview, and examination. Dr. Puziss also reviewed Dr. James’ deposition and Dr. Schilperoort’s EME report.  Dr. Puziss did not have prior images available so he had standing lumbar flexion extension films performed.  These films revealed “mild degenerative disc changes with anterior slipping at L1-2.  The L4-5 disc space was well preserved.  There was mild to moderate narrowing of the L5-S1 disc space.”
 He did not see evidence of instability. 

In his report, Dr. Puziss reported the employee’s description of her complaints as follows:

She describes left lower pain; she describes the pains as 10/10 with pain radiating down the left leg.  It is a hot sensation in the lateral thigh, down in to the heel, more laterally.  She states that she has no [sic.] coughed or sneezed in two years to know whether this increasers her pain.  Pains are made worse by walking, standing, bending, stooping, sitting a long time e.g. more than one or two hours.  The pain is described as burning.  There is no numbness or tingling.  Pains are present all day but do not awaken her at night.. . .

He noted that the employee did not complain of bowel or bladder problems and that her pain diagram was consistent with the symptoms reported.
  Throughout the physical exam he observed functional interference based upon pain behavior and indication of nonorganic causation including sensation diminished in a stocking fashion and positive Waddell’s compression.
  

Dr. Puziss opined that the employee did strain her back.  He thought this injury to be consistent with the mechanism of injury.  Although spasm was not observed, “one does not have to have spasm to diagnose a back strain.”
  

He further opined that the employee’s October 5, 2003 work related injury “did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with a pre-existing condition orthopedically.”
  Dr. Puziss stated in his report that the employee was medically stable as of March 7, 2005.  However, during his deposition, testified that he reviewed the employee’s medical records and failed to see any objective improvement after December 2003.
   When asked if it was still his opinion that the employee was not medically stable until March of 2005?  He responded, “Well that was my opinion.”
  

Regarding medical care, he thought it reasonable to attempt the injections as a diagnostic tool.
  Dr. Puziss characterized the employee as having a functional pattern which would not benefit from a discogram and would not aide further efficacy of future treatment.  He was adamant that the employee was not a surgical candidate.
   He diagnosed the employee with a history of lubrosacral sprain, evidence of a chronic left sided lumbrosacral area facet syndrome with Somatoform disorder and functional interference.
    When asked to provide a PPI rating, he opined:

 “It is very difficult to rate this patient because of the functional interferences of this examination.  I think it is safe to say that her ranges-of-motion are very subjectively determined and essentially were based on refusals.  In my estimation, the patient has no ratable impairment. . .While she has guarding, she has no spasm, and she does not have any other factors that would [indicate a Category II rating). I agree with Dr. Shilperoort that throughout the entire course of her treatment, she has had poor results from all treatments thus far, which I think indicates significant psychosocial factors impeding her recovery.  Additionally, it is difficult to believe that her pains are typically 10+/10 as she has stated to examiners.  Indeed, her pain did not appear to be 10/10 today while seated or standing, only with attempts at flexion and other motions.  Essentially, then, I cannot rationally state that the patient has a documentable, objectively verifiable, organic lumbar impairment.”

Dr. Puziss testified that an accurate physical examination of the employee was difficult as there was “significant self-limitations.”
   He explained that thought the employee had some indication of facet syndrome and that even if the employee were to obtain a facet block, she would probably not get better, “but I think it’s worth a try at this point.”
  Dr. Puziss doubt as to the efficacy of a facet block was tied to the employee’s suffering from a somatoform pain disorder; it was the somatoform disorder that would prevent the treatment from working.

Regarding the employee’s ability to return to work, Dr. Puziss testified that he believed she could return to light to medium work based upon the employee’s subjective and objective symptoms.
  However, he doubted that she could exert 20 – 50 pounds occasionally and 10- 25 pounds frequently.

On July 25, 2005, Alan C. Roth, M.D., physiatrist, also evaluated the employee for the Board.  Dr. Roth reviewed the employee’s relevant medical records and examined the employee. He also reviewed Dr. Schilperoort’s evaluation.  He diagnosed the employee as suffering from chronic lumbosacral strain, disc degeneration, and disc protrusions.  He opined that the employee exhibited significant symptom magnification “with an essentially normal physical examination except as limited volitionally such as in her range of motion.  She has normal reflex testing. Subjectively, she appears to have significantly diminished sensation, . . .”
  Dr. Roth noted that on the MRI taken shortly after the work related injury, it revealed disc protrusion and some degenerative disc disease and commented that there has been no repeat MRI.  “It is my opinion that she does not require repetition of her MRI given otherwise absence of surgical indication and the patient does not desire surgery at any rate.”
  

The only objective findings found by Dr. Roth to support the employee’s claims were the MRI findings.
  He reported the employee had a normal EMG/NCS and her physical examination was not particularly demonstrative of radiculopathy.
  

He opined that the noted degenerative changes predated the employee’s work injury.  However, he believed the work injury combined with the employee’s pre-existing condition caused the need for treatment.
  Because the employee stated that her condition worsened after the injury and that it has not improved, Dr. Roth opined that there was a permanent change in the employee’s pre-existing condition.  He recommended over the counter anti-inflammatory medications and commented that narcotic medications, epidural SI joint injections, radiofrequency ablation therapy, and chiropractic care are neither indicated nor recommended for the employee.  
Dr. Roth opined that the employee reached medical stability within one month after the SI injections.  In his estimation, it was medically reasonable for the employee to undergo the SI joint injections “given the doctor’s belief that some of her pathology may have been coming from the SI joint.”
  Dr. Roth also believed the employee could return to work as a housekeeper with restriction.  Specifically, the employee is restricted from lifting over 30 pounds and no heavy pushing or pulling.
  It was Dr. Roth’s opinion that the work restrictions were a result of “the combination of a pre-existing causation for which she had no permanent work restrictions and as a result of her work injury.”
   

Finally, regarding assigning a PPI rating, Dr. Roth opined:

In my opinion, the patient did have a history of a specific injury; she recalled a specific time when she lifted and moved a bucket, causing discomfort.  She has not had significant muscle spasm or guarding observed, but has had diffuse tenderness.  She has had radicular complaints, which have not been verified by EMG/NCS nor absence of normal reflexes, although there is subjective evidence of diminished sensation to the lower left extremity not particularly in any neurologic distribution, and although there is disc bulging, no significant radiculopathy.

Although it is likely that there is an element of symptom magnification, in part perhaps culturally related, it is my opinion that the patient probably does have some discomfort in the absence of evidence that she is participating in physical activities or walking in a fashion which she has not described.  In other words, more comfortably.  Thus taking into consideration the totality of the circumstances, in my opinion, the patient fist within Lumbar Category II with 5% impairment of the whole person.  These opinions again are expressed only to the standard to a reasonable degree of medical probability or a more probable than not standard.

The employee provided affidavits of attorney fees and costs, submitted by the employee's attorney on August 1, 2005. These affidavits itemize attorney fees for 84.7 hours of work billed at $250.00 for a total of $21,175.00 and other litigation costs in the amount of  $1,753.15.

The employee testified at hearing and by deposition.  She had no back problems before working with the employer.  She explained how she first treated at the emergency room and eventhough she was advised to take a few days off from work, she returned to work after one day.  The employee was able to work four hours before the pain became unbearable and she returned to the emergency room.  

The employee originally treated with Dr. Kiester who referred her to Dr. Duddy.  Dr. Duddy treated the employee until the employer controverted her claim.  Once her claim was controverted the employee returned to Dr. Kiester who instructed her to either return to work or see Dr. James.  The employee could not see Dr. James immediately because of the controversion.  Once she was able to see Dr. James, she testified that she felt some improvement from the physical therapy and the first injection, however she could not return to work as a janitor because of the pain.  

The employee commented on the surveillance video.  She disputes the employer’s characterization that the video is evidence that the employee can move without pain.  The employee explained that the video does not show how much pain she was in, it showed what she was doing but it did not measure her pain.  She testified that she was in pain while performing the tasks recorded.

On cross examination, the employee explained that after the first injection, she felt better in her neck and upper back but it did nothing for her lower back or leg pain.  When asked why she had not improved, the employee stated that she did not know why.
Dr. Schilperoort’s testimony at hearing was consistent with his May 3, 2005 report.  He explained that his diagnosis of pseudo-gout is based upon his actual review of the imaging studies, which revealed significant cartilaginous calcification.
   He discussed the importance of actually reviewing the images and that Dr. James did not see the imaging studies.  He also testified that after reviewing a surveillance video of the employee that he had changed diagnosis from suspected somatoform pain disorder with malingering overtones to excessive somatic focus with depression.  Dr. Schilperoort testified that the employee was medically stable as of December 6, 2003, that there has been no objective improvement since that date, that the employee has not suffered a PPI as a result of her October 3, 2003 work injury, and that she could return to her job at the time of injury without modification.  He went on to explain functional overlay and how it interferes with an “accurate” examination.  He stated that he observed, as did other physicians, the employee’s exaggerated pain behaviors.  Because of the employee’s functional overlay, it was his opinion that a physical evaluation of the employee and medical history that relies upon the employee’s observed or subjective responses were not valid.  

Dr. Schilperoort noted that where an evaluation or examination was strictly objective it was normal and where subjective or voluntary, it was not normal.  For example Dr. James ordered EMG studies and found them to be normal.  Dr. Schilperoort discussed how the employee would report that her entire lower extremity was numb, however, the employee was up and walking.  He explained that this simply is not possible.   Similarly, the employee described how the facet joint injection helped her upper back; the nerves involved that should have shown improvement were the lower back and legs.  They did not.  Therefore there was no objective improvement from the facet injections and the employee was medically stable as of December 6, 2003.

Dr. Schilperoort also explained the diagnostic purposes of the employee’s facet blocks.  It was his opinion that there was no justification for the facet injections.  Additionally, he stated that the employee participated in physical therapy much longer than was required.  Especially, when she failed to cooperate.  

Finally he opined that the employee’s ongoing symptoms in her low back were not work related and she incurred no PPI.  Rather he attributed them to either degenerative disc disease and/or symptoms of psuedo-gout, both of which predated the work injury.   Dr. Schilperoort concludes that the employee has low grade symptoms from these conditions which are magnified by her somatic focus.    It was his expert opinion that either condition could have been aggravated by the employee’s work injury and that any aggravation was temporary.  He went on to explain that the employee’s porportional levels of pain to valid objective findings overshadowed both of these conditions.  This was to be expected with the employee’s somatoform focus condition.  Finally, he agreed that the employee’s actions were not intentional and that she was not malingering. Therefore, it was his opinion that no further treatment was necessary and that the employee had reached medical stability by December 6, 2003.

Argument of the Employee

The employee argues that everyone agrees she was injured at work.  She asserts that the reason she was unable to demonstrate objective improvement after December 6, 2003, because the employer controverted her claim and she was unable to obtain treatment.  She argues that once she started treating with Dr. James, there was improvement.  

The employee argues that more weight should be given to Dr. James because he is the treating physician and was in the best position to observe the employee over a long period of time.  Additionally, medical services obtained from Dr. James or on referral were provided within 2 years of the date of injury.  Thus, the employer has a much higher burden of proof.  The employee asserts that the surveillance tape does not demonstrate the employee’s actual level of pain and is misleading.

Argument of the Employer

The employer agrees that the presumption has attached to the employee’s claim. It argues that the reports of Drs. Williams, Dordevich, and Schilperoort are substantial evidence sufficient to rebut the presumption.  

The employer argues when the evidence is weighed, the Board should give minimal weight to Dr. James’ opinion because he did not have a complete medical file and relied in large part on the employee’s subjective input. Dr. James did not review all physical therapy records and did not take into account the employee’s somatoform focus. The employer asserts that because of the employee’s somatoform focus, where a physician relies upon subjective responses from the employee, that opinion must receive less weight than an objectively measurable response.  

The employer points out that in many respects Dr. Puziss and Dr. Schilporoort are consistent.  Both Dr. Puziss and Schilperoort found issues regarding reliability of evaluations due to consistent functional overlay by the employee.  Both testified that the date of medical stability was December 6, 2003.  

Finally, the employer argues that the employee’s affidavit of attorney’s fees is late filed and excessive.  The employer agues that the employee has requested attorney’s fees for many tasks that are clerical and carried out by non attorney’s.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I.       Is the employee entitled to compensation for her medical complaints under AS 23.30.095?
AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp. "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  In Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) also specifically applies to claims for medical benefits.  

To make a prima facie case, the employee must present some evidence that (1) she has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it. "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations,' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition, imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment would still be compensable, and the employer would still be liable for continuing medical benefits under subsection .095(a).
 

Once the presumption attaches, in most cases substantial evidence must be produced showing the claimed medical evaluation for treatment is not reasonable and necessary for the work-related injury.
  However, in Weidner & Associates v. Hibdon,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held specific medical treatment recommended by a treating physician and sought by an injured worker within two years of an injury is compensable, unless the employer can meet the “heavy burden” of proving such care is unreasonable, unnecessary and outside the scope of accepted medical practice.  The Court’s decision develops the presumption analysis, as first articulated in Carter, by making the employer’s burden of rebutting the compensability of a particular treatment much greater than a “preponderance of the evidence.”  Between two legitimate, yet contradictory opinions about the efficacy of treatment, the employee may choose to follow the recommendations of his/her own physician.  The employer must demonstrate the treatment is neither reasonable, necessary, nor within the realm of acceptable medical practice.
  

Here, we find the employee’s testimony and the opinions of Drs. James, Roth, and Puziss, when viewed in isolation, sufficient to attach the presumption of compensability regarding the medical treatment provided by Dr. James.  We find the treatment provided was within two years of the employee’s injury.    Accordingly, the employer must meet the “heavy burden” of proving such care is unreasonable, unnecessary and outside the scope of accepted medical practice.  We find the testimony provided by Dr. Schilperoort does not demonstrate that the treatment received by Dr. James was outside the realm of acceptable medical practice. We agree with Dr. Puziss that “It is entirely reasonable for treating physicians to attempt to determine, with as much specificity as possible, a source of the patient’s pain, and hence the injections are reasonable.  However, I do not feel that a discogram would provide any more useful information.”
   Therefore, we conclude the employer has not met its burden with regard to treatment  already provided, and we find that treatment is compensable.  

However, regarding proposed treatment, specifically, the discogram and the Spanish-speaking pain clinic, we find those to be treatments necessitated by the employee’s somatoform pain syndrome rather than her work related physical injury.  Accordingly, they are not compensable benefits under AS 23.30.095.

As set forth above, we find the employee has attached the presumption of compensability to her claim for medical benefits.  There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work‑related disability; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work‑related.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  

We find the opinions of Drs. Dordevich, Williams, and Schilperoort, when viewed in isolation are sufficient to overcome the presumption of compensability of the somatoform pain syndrome condition.  We find the employee’s argument that these opinions are contradictory and negate the employer’s attempt to rebut the presumption without merit.  Just as an employee may present alternative theories of causations, so to may an employer present alternative theories of rebuttal.  Here, were we to view Drs. Dordevich and Williams report in isolation, we find it sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability.  Similarly, were the Board to view the opinion of Dr. Schilperoort in isolation we find it sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability.  

Having found the presumption rebutted, the burden is on the employee to establish her claim for medical benefits for her pain syndrome by a preponderance of the evidence.  At this stage, the Board does assign weight and credibility.
  We find Dr. Schilperoot’s diagnosis of psudo-gout not supported by the weight of the record.   We find Drs. Puziss and Dr. Roth had the benefit of Dr. Schilperoot’s diagnosis and report when they examined the employee and that neither agreed with Dr. Schilperoort’s diagnosis.  We find all the physicians in agreement that the employee’s subjective complaints are not supported by the objective diagnostic tests.  We find the physicians noted functional overlay in one form or another.  The Board finds the employee exhibited functional overlay and exaggerated pain.  We find the observation of the physical therapist that when the employee saw the weight added she would respond one way and when she did not see it added she would respond another way trustworthy.    We find on the record before us that the employee’s need for continued treatment is not work related.   We find the employee’s work injury did not create, aggravate, accelerate, or combine with a pre-existing condition.  We find the employee’s request for additional medical treatment, other than over the counter medication as recommended by Dr. Roth, or a Spanish-speaking pain program is not work related.  

II.
Is the employee entitled to TTD from December 6, 2003 thru March 7, 2005 under AS 23.30.185?
AS 23.30.185 provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The employee claims TTD benefits for her work injury from the effective date of the employer’s termination of those benefits, December 6, 2003, through March 7, 2005, the date she reached medical stability.  Accordingly, we will review only that period of time in our consideration of the employee’s eligibility for disability compensation.  

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage during the continuance of disability either total or partial in character but temporary in quality."
  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp. that AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.
  In the instant case, the claimant testified concerning her work injury, its consequences, her inability to return to her work, and the work restrictions imposed by her treating physicians.  We find the medical record uniformly indicates her initial pain complaints were substantially related to her October 5, 2003 work injury.  We find the documentary record contains medical opinions of her treating physicians indicating the employee suffered disabling pain from her work-related back injury, which rendered her unable to perform the work of janitor, her job at the time of injury. Following the Court's rationale in Meek, we must apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to her claim for continuing TTD benefits.  We find the employee’s testimony and the medical treatment records of Ms. Hawkins, and Drs. Puziss and Kiester are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that her work injury prevented her from working following December 6, 2003 and that she is entitled to TTD benefits from that date and continuing.  

As noted earlier, there are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability: (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work‑related disability; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work‑related.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  

We find that the opinions of all physicians in this case indicate that the employee’s back injury rendered her unable to perform her work as a janitor, at least initially.  Accordingly, we find the presumption of the employee’s entitlement to TTD benefits is initially unrebutted.
  However, on December 6, 2003, Drs. Dordevich and Williams opined that the employee suffered a back strain, a temporary condition and could return to her job at the time of injury without restrictions.  We find their opinion to be substantial evidence sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability for continuing TTD benefits after December 6, 2003.
 

Generally, once substantial evidence shows the condition does not result in any additional work-related disability, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of her TTD claim by a preponderance of the evidence.
  

We find the employee returned to her job at the time of injury on December 10, 2003.  We find she was unable to continue working and presented at the hospital emergency room complaining of back pain.  We find that the employee was discharged to return to work without restrictions or be evaluated by Dr. James on December 19, 2003.  We find that while Drs. Roth, Puziss, and James placed limitations on the amount of weight the employee could lift, none of those physicians restricted her from her work after that date.

Accordingly, based on the preponderance of the available evidence, we find on the record before us that the employee was able to return to her job at the time of injury on December 19, 2003.   Accordingly we find her TTD benefits cease as of December 19, 2003.   

III. Does the employee have a ratable PPI under AS 23.30.190?

At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.190 provided, in part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 . . . ."

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment
 . . .

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall he reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.

AS 23.30.190 is specific and mandatory that PPI ratings must be for an impairment, which is partial in character and permanent in quality, and calculated under the AMA Guides.  We have consistently followed this statute in our decisions and orders.
  Above, we have determined the employee is medically stable and therefore can be rated.  When asked to rate the employee, Dr. Roth placed the employee in a category II and assigned a 5% rating.  Dr. James assigned a 5 – 8% PPI rating.  However, his rating is based upon the employee’s subjective complaints.  Dr. Puziss opined that while the employee had guarding she did not have other factors that would place the employee in Category II.  We give more weight to Dr. Puziss’ and Dr. Schilperoort’s opinions that there are significant psychosocial factors impeding the employee’s recovery.  We find their opinions in keeping with the opinion of the employee’s treating physician, Dr. James.  Having previously found the employee exhibited functional overlay and exaggeration; we find Dr. Roth’s PPI rating invalid and conclude there is no valid impairment rating under the AMA Guides in the record.  Therefore, we conclude the employee is not entitled to a PPI benefit.

IV. 
Shall the Board refer the employee for an AS 23.30.041 eligibility evaluation?

AS 23.30.041(f)(3) provides that an employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if no PPI is identified or expected.  Based on our finding above that the employee has no ratable impairment, we find as a matter of law that the employee does not meet the criteria for reemployment benefits.  

However, the reemployment benefits administrator (“RBA”) has limited, statutory powers.
  AS 23.30.041(d) contains mandatory language that the RBA "shall" determine whether or not the employee is eligible for reemployment benefits.  The RBA appears to have no discretion under the statute to abandon that procedure.
   Under AS 23.30.135(a) and AS 23.30.155(h), we have broad authority conduct our procedings in a way to “best ascertain the rights of the parties.”
   Because the employee lacks the essential criteria under AS 23.30.041(c), we decline to refer the employee to the RBA for evaluation.

IV. Attorney Fees And Legal Costs. 

AS 23.30.145(b) provides, in part:

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

Based on our review of the record, we find the employee's attorney has successfully obtained a benefit for the employee and her medical providers.  Under AS 23.30.260 the employee’s attorney may receive fees in respect to the claim only with our approval.  In this case, we find the payment of the benefits claimed by the employee, was controverted and resisted by the action of the employer.
  The employee seeks an award of attorney's fee under subsection AS 23.30.145(b).  We have awarded the employee some of her claimed TTD benefits and some of her medical benefits.  Consequently, we can award fees under AS 23.30.145(b).
  

The Alaska Supreme Court in Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell
 held that our attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingency nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.  We consider the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services obtained, when determining reasonable attorney fees for the successful prosecution of a claim.
    

In light of these factors, we have examined the record of this case.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, and the benefits resulting to the employee from the services obtained, we find that attorney fees claimed under AS 23.30.145(b) are reasonable for the partially successful prosecution of this claim.
  We conclude the employee is entitled to attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b), based on the TTD benefits and medical benefits awarded in this decision. 

The employee seeks an award of reasonable attorney fees and costs under AS 23.30.145(b). Upon reviewing the record, we find the employee provided affidavits of attorney fees and costs, submitted by the employee's attorney on August 1, 2005. These affidavits itemize attorney fees for 84.7 hours of work billed at $250.00 for a total of $21,175.00 and other litigation costs in the amount of  $1,753.15.  The employer disputes the reasonableness of the hours expended arguing that some of the costs were incurred due to the employee’s own actions or were performed in the execution of basic office functions.

We have considered the nature, length and complexity, and benefits awarded in this case, as well as the contingent nature of workers' compensation cases.   We find the employee’s itemized costs are reasonable.  We also find that $7,000.00 of the claimed attorney fees is reasonable for the partially successful prosecution of the claim and the value of the benefits received by the employee.  We conclude that an award of attorney fees and costs in the total amount of $8,753.15 is appropriate in this case under AS 12.30.145 and 8 AAC 45.180.

V.
Interest
AS 23.30.155(p) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:

If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation

For injuries which occurred on or after July 1, 2000, AS 23.30.155(p) and our regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.
  The Courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  Accordingly, we will award interest to the employee, in accord with AS 23.30.155(p), on all unpaid benefits awarded by this decision, from the dates on which those benefits were due. 

ORDER

1.
The employer shall pay the employee TTD benefits under AS 23.30.185, from the date of controversion through December 19, 2003.

2.
The employer shall provide the employee the medical benefits under AS 23.30.095(a), as discussed in this decision and order.  
3. The employee’s claim for PPI benefits under AS 23.30.190 is dismissed.

4. The employer shall pay interest as discussed in this decision and order.

5. 
The employer shall pay the employee $8,753.15 in attorney fees and legal costs, under AS 23.30.145(b).  


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 6th   day  of  October,  2005.
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